FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/22/2019 12:16 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

96979-5

Court of Appeals No. 50718-8-II

### WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

# WASHINGTON COALITION FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Petitioner,

ν.

PIERCE COUNTY,

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

William John Crittenden, #22033 Attorney at Law 12345 Lake City Way NE 306 Seattle, Washington 98125-5401 (206) 361-5972 bill@billcrittenden.com

###

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Washington Coalition for Open Government (WCOG) seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

WCOG seeks review of the Unpublished Opinion in Washington Coalition for Open Government v. Pierce County, No. 50718-8-II dated February 20, 2019. Appendix A.

### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

A. Whether RCW 42.56.100 requires agencies to adopt and enforce rules for the production of electronic records.

B. Whether RCW 42.56.550(1) requires agencies to prove that records are exempt.

C. Whether the County waived its work product protection by disclosing its work product communications to numerous cities and counties that are subject to the PRA.

D. Whether RCW 42.56.210(3) requires an agency to explain the application of the common interest doctrine where work product records have been shared with other parties.

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

WCOG's proposed findings and conclusions are attached as **Appendix B**. Although the lower courts declined to adopt these proposed findings the County has never argued that any of WCOG's proposed findings are incorrect.

### A. The Nissen litigation

In 2011 a former deputy sheriff brought a PRA action against Pierce County, seeking access to public records created or retained on Prosecutor Lindquist's personal cell phone. CP 2158-2166. Nissen's complaint specifically alleged that "Lindquist was using his cell phone to take actions retaliating against her and other official misconduct." CP 2159. Two deputy prosecutors represented the County in the trial court. CP 2170-71.

In addition, Lindquist, represented by a private attorney, intervened in the *Nissen* case, and filed a motion for a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction against the County. CP 2179-2214. But Lindquist never withdrew from representing the County in the *Nissen* case. CP 2483-85, 2579-83.

The trial court dismissed the case. The Court of Appeals reversed, rejecting the argument that the PRA did not apply to Lindquist's cell phone. *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn. App. 581, 333 P.3d 577 (2014). This Court granted review.

Unknown to the appellate courts in *Nissen*, Lindquist was personally involved in both the County's unsuccessful defense in

*Nissen* and the drafting of amicus briefs filed in support of the County. CP 781. Lindquist's continued representation of the County in *Nissen* despite his intervention as an adverse party was unprecedented. The parties have been unable to find any case that even addresses the bizarre situation in which an attorney for one party is also an adverse party in the same case. CP 2071.

On August 27, 2015, this Court rejected Lindquist's argument that the PRA did not apply to records on his phone. *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 357 P.3d 45 (2015).

On remand the Pierce County Executive, Pat McCarthy, became aware that Lindquist had a conflict of interest in *Nissen*. The Executive received a 13-page legal opinion from her own attorney explaining that Lindquist had a conflict of interest in the *Nissen* case, and that none of the attorneys in Prosecutor's Office should represent the County in *Nissen*. When Lindquist refused to withdraw, the Executive filed a motion for a special prosecutor. CP 2474-82. Without deciding whether Lindquist had a conflict of interest, the court allowed the appointment of a new attorney selected by the Prosecutor. CP 2474-82.

On or about December 23, 2015, former deputy prosecutor Mary Robnett, who had left the Prosecuting Attorney in 2011, disclosed that she had received a text message from Lindquist on August 2, 2011, that stated: "Tell allies to comment on TNT story." CP 1352, 2483-85. The superior court ruled that Lindquist's text message was a public record that should have been disclosed. CP 2584-91. The court awarded Nissen more than \$118,000. CP 2596-2600. The County had already spent more than \$325,000 on attorneys to defend Lindquist. CP 2592.

#### B. WCOG's PRA Requests

While the *Nissen* case was pending in this Court, WCOG became concerned about Lindquist's disregard for the obvious conflict of interest created by his intervention as a private party in the *Nissen* case. On April 1, 2015 WCOG made a PRA request to the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney for communications between the various parties in *Nissen*, the conflict of interest created by Lindquist's intervention in the *Nissen* case, and the retention of private attorneys in the *Nissen* case. To avoid unnecessary delay WCOG demanded that the County produce the requested records in electronic format and that the County produce the records by email or internet file transfer. CP 2645-476.

WCOG repeatedly demanded that the County respond by email and produce records electronically. CP 2646, 2650-51,

4

2655, 2664-65, 2668. The County repeatedly ignored WCOG's requests and sent correspondence by mail, causing delays. CP 2649, 2654, 2656-57, 2659, 2667. Despite the fact that the County had already been using email for years, the County asserted that email was insufficiently reliable for PRA requests. CP 2689.

By letter dated May 11, 2015, the County stated that it was prepared to provide a "first installment" of 533 pages of records, many of which were completely redacted as "work product." CP 2658-2663. These records were electronically redacted using Adobe Acrobat XI Pro, which resulted in the creation of redacted PDF files that could have been provided to WCOG in that format as WCOG requested. CP 2843. But the County required WCOG to pay \$88.65 for paper copies sent by mail. CP 2658-59:



CP 2665, 2670, 2676.

Additional delays were caused when the County's PRA officer retired on August 28, 2015. CP 457. The County made no

arrangements to have the PRA officer's email account forwarded to or processed by the new PRA officer. As a result, the County did not receive at least one email from WCOG's attorney, which was re-sent in October 2015. CP 2680-93.

The County produced a second installment of records as a single 233-page PDF file on a CDR mailed to WCOG. CP 2700.

The County's PRA rules, which were updated in 2007, do not address (i) whether the County will respond to a requestor by email or (ii) whether or how the County will produce electronic records. CP 262-266.<sup>1</sup> The lack of proper PRA rules for email and electronic documents enabled the County to be intentionally unhelpful in response to WCOG's PRA request.

The County's assertion that email was too unreliable for PRA requests was a pretext. The PRA officer could have sent her correspondence by both email and regular mail. Nor was there any reason for the County to *print* redacted PDF files rather than copying the PDF files onto a CDR which could be mailed. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The *Unpublished Opinion* at 17 n.8 suggests that WCOG "expanded" its argument during oral argument by asserting that the County had not adopted "any" rules for responding to PRA requests. WCOG's written arguments and documentary evidence clearly indicate that the County had not updated its PRA rules since 2007. *Reply Br.* at 21; CP 262-66, 776. WCOG apologizes if its counsel misspoke or if the lower court misinterpreted counsel's oral argument.

County has never even bothered to deny that it was intentionally unhelpful or provided any valid explanation for its behavior.

Each of the County's exemption logs asserted that the redacted records were work product (RCW 42.56.290) or privileged. CP 2674. With respect to some of the records the County's exemption logs asserted that the "common interest" doctrine applied as well. CP 2674. The County's exemption logs did not indicate the scope of the alleged "common interest," whether or when any common interest agreement had been made, or who the other parties to the common interest were. To obtain that information WCOG had to conduct discovery. CP 2835.

In December 2015, WCOG sued the County for improper claims of work product exemptions, for providing inadequate exemption logs, and for violating RCW 42.56.100 by failing to adopt proper PRA rules. CP 1027-1036.

From January 2016 to April 2016, the County produced three more installments of heavily-redacted PDF files, which were copied onto CDRs and mailed to WCOG's attorney. CP 2713-60.

In May 2016, the Prosecutor's Office stated that it had changed its policy on the use of internet transfer services, and that the PRA officer was now authorized to provide responsive records through internet file transfer. CP 2766. The County produced four more installments of heavily-redacted records as PDF files transmitted via the internet. CP 2830-31.

The trial court dismissed all of WCOG's claims. CP 354-360. The Court of Appeals affirmed in the *Unpublished Opinion*.

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

### A. The Court of Appeals failed to enforce RCW 42.56.100, which requires agencies to adopt and enforce reasonable rules for responding to PRA requests.

RCW 42.56.100 requires the County to adopt and enforce reasonable PRA rules. "Such rules and regulations shall provide for the fullest assistance to inquirers and the most timely possible action on requests for information." RCW 42.56.100. This provision was part of the original 1972 Initiative. Laws of 1973, ch.1, § 29 (former RCW 42.17.290).

In 2005, the Legislature amended RCW 42.56.580 to require the Attorney General to adopt model rules for the PRA, specifically including "[f]ulfilling requests for electronic records." Laws of 2005, ch. 483, §4. The AGO promulgated such rules in Chap. 44-14 WAC. But the County failed to comply with RCW 42.56.100 by adopting its own rules for electronic public records. It is undisputed that the County's PRA rules, updated in 2007, do *not* address (i) whether the County will respond to a requestor by email or (ii) how the County will produce electronic records. The absence of rules required by RCW 42.56.100 enabled the County to be intentionally unhelpful to WCOG, by refusing to respond by email and by printing redacted PDF files onto paper.

Two published decisions of the Court of Appeals (Division One), suggest that an agency's failure to adopt and enforce rules is a PRA violation. *Kleven v. Des Moines*, 111 Wn. App. 284, 296-97, 44 P.3d 887 (2002); *ACLU v. Blaine School Dist.*, 88 Wn. App. 688, 695, 937 P.2d 1176 (1997). In contrast, this Court has only addressed RCW 42.56.100 in passing.<sup>2</sup>

In this case, Division Two failed to analyze RCW 42.56.100 in any meaningful way. Instead, the court cited its own opinion in *Mitchell v. Washington State Dep't of Corr.*, 164 Wn. App. 597, 606, 277 P.3d 670 (2011) for the erroneous proposition that "[n]othing in the PRA obligates an agency to disclose records electronically." *Unpublished Opinion* at 17. Like the court's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Hearst v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 129, 580 P.2d 246 (1978); Servais v. Port of Bellingham, 127 Wn.2d 820, 829, 904 P.2d 1124 (1995); Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Auth., 177 Wn.2d 417, 431-32, 327 P.3d 600 (2013); Fisher Broadcasting v. Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515, 541, 326 P.2d 688 (2014).

opinion in this case, *Mitchell* failed to analyze RCW 42.56.100, citing the statute only once in passing. 164 Wn. App. at 607.

Division Two's assertion that the PRA does not require agencies to disclose records electronically is an incorrect statement of the law that this Court should emphatically reject. Computers and electronic data already existed in 1972, and the original 1972 PRA explicitly applied to several types of electronic information that could only be provided to a requestor in electronic format, including magnetic tapes, magnetic cards, discs and drums. Laws of 1973, ch.1, § 2; *see* RCW 42.56.010(4).

By design, the PRA does *not* specify how any particular type of data should be provided to the requestor. Instead, RCW 42.56.100 requires agencies to adopt and enforce reasonable rules that provide "fullest assistance" and "the most timely possible action on requests for information." RCW 42.56.100. Such rules need to address electronic records as well. RCW 42.56.580.<sup>3</sup> Division Two's unwillingness to enforce RCW 42.56.100 and its incorrect understanding of electronic records, prevents the PRA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The *Unpublished Opinion* at 17-18 erroneously states that WCOG had argued that the County was required to adopt the AGO model rules. In fact, WCOG argued that the County violated RCW 42.56.100 by failing to adopt "its own rules for electronic public records." App. Br. at 49.

from adapting to the use of electronic information in government.<sup>4</sup>

This Court should grant review pursuant RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the application of the PRA to electronic records is a matter of substantial public interest. This Court has not addressed how RCW 42.56.100 works or how the PRA applies to electronic information in more than forty years. The Court should also grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2) as Division Two's decision conflicts with Division One's decisions in *Kleven* and *ACLU*.

## B. The Court of Appeals violated RCW 42.56.550(1) by shifting the burden of proof to WCOG.

Unlike the plaintiff in most lawsuits the plaintiff in a PRA case does *not* have the burden of proof. For important policy reasons Washington voters explicitly placed the burden of proving PRA exemptions *on the agency*. Laws of 1973, ch.1, § 34. The current PRA, RCW 42.56.550(1), provides:

The burden of proof shall be on the agency to establish that refusal to permit public inspection and copying is in accordance with a statute that exempts or prohibits disclosure in whole or in part of specific information or records.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The statement in *Mitchell*, 164 Wn. App. at 607, that redacting a computer database would require an agency "to print the records, redact them, and then scan them back into electronic format" is patently erroneous. Databases can be accessed, redacted and queried *electronically*. *See Fort Cherry Sch. Dist. v. Acton*, 38 A.3d 1092, 2012 WL 8681602 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2012).

There are dozens of exemptions in the PRA itself, and perhaps hundreds of "other statute" exemptions in other state statutes and under federal law.<sup>5</sup> By enacting the PRA the voters decided that agencies, which have attorneys and are expected to know the law, are required to explain why records are exempt and to prove the applicability of those exemptions in court. RCW 42.56.210(3); -550(1). These provisions are particularly important where, as here, an agency's exemption claim is unprecedented and neither party is able to find case law on point. Forcing a requestor to hire attorneys convince a court that a record is *not exempt* violates the plain language and underlying policy of the PRA.

Because Lindquist never withdrew from representing the County in *Nissen* he was both (i) the County's attorney and (ii) the Intervenor in the same case. In response to discovery the County asserted that Lindquist and the County had a "common interest," and that there was an "agreement and understanding" between Lindquist and the County that they could share information while preserving "applicable privileges." CP 2836-37. Although WCOG did not have the burden of proof, WCOG proved that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g. Ameriquest Mortgage Corp. v. Wash. Attorney General, 170 Wn.2d 418, 440, 241 P.3d 1245 (2010) (federal financial privacy statute and FTC rule are an "other statute" exemption under RCW 42.56.070).

County's common interest agreement claim is not supported by any evidence, not credible, and contrary to all the evidence in the record. *See App. Br.* at 28-34; *Reply Br.* at 11-13.<sup>6</sup>

WCOG also challenged the legal basis for the County's claim of a "common interest" between Lindquist and the County. WCOG retained an ethics expert who (i) agreed with Executive McCarthy that Lindquist had an impermissible conflict of interest in *Nissen*, and (ii) testified that he could not find "any authority anywhere" that would allow a lawyer to represent a party when that lawyer was also an adverse party in the same case. CP 2070-71. Having shown that Lindquist's actions were unprecedented, WCOG challenged the County's "common interest" claims:

- Lindquist had a conflict of interest in the *Nissen* case under RPC 1.7(a), and a special prosecutor should have been appointed to represent the County. CP 1607, 2016-2017.
- There is no legal authority to allow a prosecutor who has intervened in a case to form a common interest agreement with himself. CP 1608, 2018; *App. Br.* at 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Court of Appeals ignored all the evidence, erroneously holding that the County had a "reasonable expectation of privacy" simply because, according to the court, the County and Lindquist had a "common interest." *Unpublished Opinion* at 13WCOG may revisit these factual issues if review is granted.

- As a matter of first impression, the court should rule that an attorney cannot form a valid common interest agreement with himself as an adverse party. *Id*.
- In the alternative, the exemption in RCW 42.56.290 should not apply where one party is also the attorney for an adverse party in the same case. *App. Br.* at 39-40.

The trial court ruled against WCOG by erroneously shifting the burden of proof to WCOG.<sup>7</sup>

On appeal, WCOG explained that unanswered questions of fact or law preclude upholding an agency's exemption claim. Either the agency must answer such questions or the court must rule that the agency has *not* carried its burden of proof under RCW 42.56.550(1). *App. Br.* at 37 n. 13. Noting that its review was *de novo*, the Court of Appeals declined to address the trial court's shifting of the burden of proof. *Unpublished Opinion* at 8 n.2.

But then the Court of Appeals erroneously shifted the burden of proof to WCOG, exactly as the trial court had done:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The trial court erroneously cited *Adams v. Dept. of Corrections*, 189 Wn. App. 925, 937, 361 P.3d 749 (2015) for the proposition that WCOG had the "burden to prove the elements necessary to recovery." CP 358. That part of *Adams* addresses whether an inmate-requestor has the burden to prove bad faith under RCW 42.56.565. 189 Wn. App. at 952; CP 358. *Adams* clearly states that the burden of proving exemptions is on the agency. 189 Wn. App. at 937. The trial court then refused to consider WCOG's legal arguments, asserting that the record was somehow "insufficiently developed" to decide the issues. CP 359.

WCOG provides no authority to support its assertion that Lindquist became an adverse party to the County simply because he personally intervened in the *Nissen* litigation. WCOG similarly fails to provide any support for its claim that Lindquist and the County were adversaries in the *Nissen* litigation because they had a conflict of interest.

Unpublished Opinion at 13. Under RCW 42.56.550(1) it was the County's burden to establish that it is legally permissible for an attorney to have a common interest relationship with himself as an adverse party in the same case, and that RCW 42.56.290 permits an agency to redact or withhold records that were shared with a prosecutor who should have withdrawn from representing the agency. The County did not carry this burden. But the Court of Appeals erroneously required WCOG to convince the court that the records were *not* exempt.

This Court should grant review pursuant RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the *Unpublished Opinion* conflicts with *Neighborhood Alliance* and numerous other decisions of this Court which state that the agency, not the plaintiff requestor, has the burden of proof.

C. The County waived its work product protection under *Kittitas County v. Allphin* by disclosing its *Nissen* communications to numerous cities and counties with which it had no common interest or reasonable expectation of confidentiality.

The records redacted by the County as work product (RCW

42.56.290) were not only shared with Lindquist and his private attorney, but also with a large and unknown number of counties through WAPA, cities through WSAMA, and various employee amicus groups that filed briefs in *Nissen*. CP 2490-2515, 2569-77, 2917-32. The County argued that the common interest doctrine prevented any waiver of the work product privilege.

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