FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/3/2019 2:32 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96979-5

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### WASHINGTON COALITION FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

v.

#### PIERCE COUNTY,

Respondent/Defendant.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

FREIMUND JACKSON & TARDIF

JOHN R. NICHOLSON Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #30499 900 SW 16<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 215 Renton, WA 98057 (206) 582-6001

Attorneys for Respondent Pierce County

#### **

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

## B. The Court of Appeals' Conclusion that the County Did Not Waive Work Product Protections in *Nissen* Litigation Records By Sharing Them With Other Aligned Parties is Consistent With This Court's Established Case Law

WCOG's contention that the trial court and Court of Appeals reversed the burden of proof when they concluded the County's work product exemptions were proper is belied by the record. The trial court explicitly recognized "[t]he agency bears the burden 'to establish that refusal to permit public inspection and copying in accordance with a statute that exempts or prohibits public disclosure." CP 358 (quoting RCW 42.56.550 (1)). It went on to hold, "Pierce County has met its burden to

establish that a PRA exemption (work product) applies to these documents." CP 359. The Court of Appeals likewise recognized the County's burden under the statute. Unpublished Opinion at 8. Thus, there was no reversal of the applicable burden. Instead, WCOG is simply arguing the lower courts made an error when they determined the County met this burden. This does not satisfy the criteria for review invoked by WCOG. *See* RAP 13.4 (b)(1). This Court is not an "error-correcting" court. *See generally* RAP 13.1(a), 13.4(b). Consequently, even without reaching the merits, WCOG's petition should be denied.

In any case, WCOG fundamentally misconstrues the doctrine of waiver. "A waiver is the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RCW 42.56.550 (1) places the burden on an agency to establish that an exemption is properly asserted. However, the trial court correctly noted, citing Adams v. Dept. of Corrections, 189 Wn. App. 925, 952, 361 P.3d 749 (2015), that in all other respects a plaintiff still has the burden of establishing the elements necessary for recovery. ĈP 358. This statement was a recognition of the County's objection that WCOG did not identify which specific exempt records out of the thousands disclosed by the County WCOG was challenging. As the plaintiff in Superior Court, WCOG was required to file the opening brief for the merits hearing. CP 2065. The County was required to file a response, and WCOG was permitted to file a reply. *Id.* Without the requestor identifying the specific records it is challenging, there is no way for the agency or the court to determine whether in camera review of those records is necessary. Despite this, WCOG insisted it did not even have the minimal burden as the plaintiff of identifying which records it was disputing were exempt, instead stating that simply providing "examples that highlight why the exemption claims were wrong" satisfied any burden it had. 04/21/17 RP at 8-9, 55. The trial court disagreed, noting "the Plaintiff has failed to even identify which specific records are at issue that purportedly lost their work product privilege because they were shared," and consequently "[t]he merits hearing did not involve a challenge to any particular document withheld or redacted." CP 359-60. While WCOG did not satisfy its burden of identifying all the specific exempt records it was challenging, the Court nevertheless dealt with its allegation "in a generic way that the work product privilege does not apply because some or all of the documents were shared outside the attorney-client relationship." CP 359. The trial court rejected that claim, as noted *infra*.

known right. It may result from an express agreement or be inferred from circumstances indicating an intent to waive." *Jones v. Best*, 134 Wn.2d 232, 241, 950 P.2d 1 (1998)(citing *Bowman v. Webster*, 44 Wn.2d 667, 669, 269 P.2d 960 (1954)). And contrary to WCOG's assertion, it is the party who claims that a waiver occurred – not the party denying it – who bears the burden of proof of establishing waiver. *Jones*, 134 Wn.2d at 241-42; *Steel v. Olympia Early Learning Ctr.*, 195 Wn. App. 811, 832, 281 P.3d 111 (2016). Non-waiver is not an element of establishing work product or any other privilege.

WCOG attempted to manufacture an argument that the County waived any work product protection in records it shared with Lindquist by claiming that the then Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney was an "adverse party" to the County in *Nissen*. As both the trial court and Court of Appeals held, the record in *Nissen* is clear that neither Prosecutor Lindquist nor any of the relevant amicus groups were adverse to the County. The undisputed record establishes they all took the same position in the litigation, specifically that Prosecutor Lindquist's private cell phone records were not public records and that requiring their disclosure would infringe on the privacy rights of public officials and employees. In its effort to resurrect this argument, WCOG relies on legal conclusions from the declaration of an

attorney it hired, which stated Lindquist had a conflict of interest in *Nissen*. But the trial court correctly granted the County's motion to strike those legal conclusions as inadmissible, and WCOG never assigned error to this ruling on appeal. 8 CP 357.

Even should this Court accept *arguendo* that Lindquist had a conflict of interest, WCOG has never cited any legal authority holding that work product protections are destroyed when a conflict of interest arises. The trial court specifically noted this lack of authority. CP 427. There is no dispute that Prosecutor Lindquist was one of the County's attorneys in *Nissen*. Both Washington law and the Rules of Professional Conduct expressly prohibit a lawyer from revealing client confidences, even after the attorney-client relationship is terminated. RPC 1.9 (c)(2); RCW 5.60.060; Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 77, cmt. b. (2000) ("The attorney-client privilege continues indefinitely"); *see also* ABA Formal Opinion 94-385 (either lawyer or client may invoke work product,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> "The appellate court will only review a claimed error which is included in an assignment of error or clearly disclosed in the associated issue pertaining thereto." RAP 10.3(g). Where a party fails to assign error to the trial court's decision to strike a declaration, the ruling is not reviewable on appeal. *Workman v. Klinkenburg*, 6 Wn. App.2d 291, 303-04, 430 P.3d 716 (2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> RCW 36.27.020; *Kleven v. King County Prosecutor*, 112 Wn. App. 18, 25, 53 P.3d 516 (2002) ("[B]y statute, the prosecuting attorney is the legal advisor for all county officers and agencies."); *Harter v. King County*, 11 Wn.2d 584, 595, 119 P.2d 919 (1941) ("[W]here the board [of county commissioners] remains silent, it is bound by the bona fide representation of the county by the prosecuting attorney, who derives his primary authority, not from the board, but from the statutes.").

and lawyer is obligated to do so on behalf of former client). Thus, the Court of Appeals properly held WCOG's conflict of interest argument is factually and legally baseless.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's holding in *Allphin*, which makes clear that the court's focus is on the conduct of the defendant agency when determining whether the agency has waived work product protection in a document by disclosing it to a third person: "a party waives its work product protection when it discloses work product documents to a third party in a manner creating a significant likelihood that an adversary will obtain the information." *Allphin*, 190 Wn.2d at 700 (emphasis added). As the Court of Appeals here reasoned, when a party shares work product with other parties who are aligned with it in ongoing litigation, there is no waiver: "Because the County, Lindquist, and the amicus groups were similarly aligned on a matter of common interest in the *Nissen* litigation, the County had a reasonable expectation of confidentiality in sharing its work product with the amicus groups and Lindquist." Unpublished Opinion at 13. Thus, again, there is no conflict.

WCOG makes the misleading assertion that besides being shared with Lindquist, WAPA, WSAMA, and Public Employees, "the County's records were also shared with dozens of cities and counties." Petition at 16.

While WAPA and/or WSAMA may have shared briefing with the attorneys representing "dozens of cities and counties" who are the constituent members of those organizations, the record shows the County shared records only with the attorneys representing Lindquist and its amicus supporters in the Nissen case. Again, the focus under Allphin is the conduct of the County in disclosing its work product to a third person and whether it had a reasonable expectation of confidentiality. Here, where the County's disclosure was only to attorneys representing other parties in *Nissen* who were aligned with it, there was no waiver. The fact that WCOG managed to obtain some of the County's work product records from sources other than the County, long after making the subject PRA request, is immaterial. See, e.g., Koenig v. Pierce County, 151 Wn. App. 221, 236, 211 P.3d 423 (2009), as amended (July 20, 2009), as amended on denial of reconsideration (Oct. 26, 2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1023, 228 P.3d 18 (2010)("the fortuity of receiving an exemption log from the prosecutor's office in 2007 does not provide Koenig with a cause of action for its failure to provide him with an exemption log in 2005 when he first requested documents.").

The Court of Appeals also appropriately rejected WCOG's specious argument that an e-mail written by Pamela Loginsky, who represented WAPA in *Nissen*, put the County on notice that any work product it shared

with WAPA would be waived. Opinion, p. 10, fn. 5. Nothing in Ms. Loginsky's e-mail suggests a waiver of work product. The fact that she reminded WAPA's constituent member attorneys that their communications about the *Nissen* briefing would be "public records" has no bearing on whether those communications would be public records that were exempt work product. The County has never claimed its work product records in *Nissen* were not "public records" as broadly defined in the PRA. RCW 42.56.010 (3). It identified them as such on its extensive exemption logs. Rather, the County has consistently claimed that work product contained within these public records is exempt from disclosure.

In sum, the Court of Appeals was correct to hold the County properly claimed records reflecting its attorneys' litigation strategy, mental impressions, and legal opinions in *Nissen* were exempt work product. The court's opinion carefully followed the analysis set forth by this Court in *Allphin* to conclude the County did not commit a waiver. Thus, even if the Court looks past WCOG's failure to show any conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion and a prior decision of this Court, WCOG's contention that the Court of Appeals erred is baseless.

#### C. The Court of Appeals' Conclusion that the County's Exemption Logs Satisfied the PRA is Consistent With this Court's Prior Holdings

Last, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's determination that the County's exemption logs were adequate. Despite WCOG's assertion, it again shows no conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion and this Court's prior decisions in *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 853, 240 P.3d 120 (2010), or *Lakewood v. Koenig*, 182 Wn.2d 87, 343 P.3d (2014).

When an agency withholds or redacts a record, the PRA merely requires the agency to "include a statement of the specific exemption authorizing the withholding of the record (or part) and a <u>brief explanation</u> of how the exemption applies to the record wittheld." RCW 42.56.210 (3)(emphasis added). The purpose of this "brief explanation" requirement is to inform a requestor why a record is being withheld and to allow for meaningful judicial review. *Lakewood*, 182 Wn.2d at 94.

Again, the exemption at issue is work product, which includes both factual information that is collected or gathered by an attorney in anticipation of litigation and an attorney's legal research, theories, opinions, and conclusions. *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595, 605-06, 963 P.2d 869 (1998). Mindful of this nuance, the County's logs provided specific explanations as to what type of work product each exempt record included.

CP 571-632.<sup>10</sup> The County's logs also identified each record's author and recipient and a description of the record, unless this information was clear on the face of the record itself (i.e., redacted copies of e-mails which showed this information). *Id*.

Once again, in the trial court WCOG did not identify specific log entries it was challenging, but it argued in a general fashion that the County was required to explicitly invoke the common interest doctrine in connection with any work product exemptions it was claiming in documents that had been shared with Lindquist, WAPA, WSAMA, and/or Public Employees. Further, WCOG asserted the County was required to state in its exemption "(i) that a common interest agreement was made, (ii) the nature of the common interest and the scope of the agreement, and (iii) the identity of other parties to the agreement." CP 2019. The lower courts correctly rejected this contention.

As explained above, non-waiver is not an element of work product or any other privilege or exemption. The brief explanation requirement therefor does not require a party to affirmatively state that a privilege or exemption has not been waived. If waiver is asserted, *Allphin* holds that waiver of work product does not occur unless a party discloses it "to a third

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> An excerpt from the County's exemption logs is attached as **Appendix C**.

party in a manner creating a significant likelihood that an adversary will obtain the information." *Allphin*, 190 Wn.2d at 700. While the parties in *Allphin* were aligned such that they could properly be characterized as having a common interest, this Court's opinion did not invoke the common interest doctrine in its analysis whatsoever. WCOG's claim that the County was required to invoke the doctrine to explain the exemption is thus misguided.

Even if the common interest doctrine were needed to explain the non-waiver of work product here, the County was not required to provide the detailed information in its exemption logs claimed by WCOG. The common interest doctrine is not an independent privilege, but is instead "merely an exception to waiver of privilege." *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 853. Consistent with this Court's reasoning in *Sanders*, in the unpublished portion of the Court of Appeals' decision in *Allphin*, it rejected the precise argument being made by WCOG here. <sup>11</sup> Because *Sanders* recognizes that

<sup>&</sup>quot;Given that the common interest doctrine is merely a common law exception to waiver and not a separate exemption, the County's explanation that the e-mails were 'work product' was sufficient to explain why the County was withholding them. Between this explanation and the County's description of each e-mail's contents, we conclude the County's exemption logs were adequate." *Kittitas County v. Allphin*, 2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 1895, \*\*\*28-29 (2016)(unpublished decision, *see* GR 14.1(a)). For the Court's reference, a copy of both the published and unpublished portions of the Court of Appeals' opinion in *Allphin* is attached as **Appendix D**.

the common interest doctrine is an exception to waiver and not an exemption, it supports the County's position, not that of WCOG.

WCOG's assertion that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Lakewood* is also wrong. In *Lakewood*, this Court addressed the adequacy of a city's exemption logs where it redacted drivers' license numbers and dates of birth from certain police records. *Lakewood*, 182 Wn.2d at 96-97. *Lakewood* did not involve the common interest doctrine, the work product doctrine, or any claim that a privilege or exemption had been waived. As a general proposition, *Lakewood* held the inquiry the court makes in determining whether the brief explanation requirement is satisfied is not whether the agency has provided a correct response to a records request, but "whether it provided sufficient explanatory information for requestors to determine whether the exemptions were properly invoked." *Id.* at 97.

Here, the County's exemption logs explained how each record withheld or redacted was work product. As evidenced by its arguments in this litigation, WCOG had sufficient information to challenge the County's exemption as incorrect based upon a claim of waiver. This is the only brief explanation required by the PRA. RCW 42.56.210 (3). Accordingly, there also is no conflict between *Lakewood* and the Court of Appeals' decision.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with prior case law of this Court and all divisions of the Court of Appeals. Because WCOG has failed to satisfy the criteria of RAP 13.4 (b), the Court should deny its petition.